1969

**Walker Bank & Trust Company v. W. S. Brimhall, Commissioner of Financial Institutions of Utah, Bank of Utah, Bank of Ben Lomond, Citizens National Bank, First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., and Commercial Security Bank : Brief of Appellants**

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought in the District Court of Salt Lake County by plaintiff, Walker Bank and Trust Company, against the defendant W. S. Brimhall, as Commissioner of Financial Institutions of Utah, (hereinafter generally referred to as Bank Commissioner, or Commissioner) to review a decision of the Bank Commissioner denying plaintiff's application for a branch bank to be located in South Ogden, Utah. The action is authorized by Section 7-1-26, U.C.A. 1953, as amended.

The several defendant banks, who were protestants in the proceedings before the Bank Commissioner, intervened as parties defendant.

## DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was granted by Judge Stewart M. Hanson in a Memorandum Decision in writing under date of March 18, 1969. Thereafter, and on March 20, 1969, Judge Hanson signed and entered his Declaratory Judgment and Decree whereby he (1) set aside the Bank Commissioner's decision denying plaintiff the branch in South Ogden, and (2) he "ordered and directed (the Bank Commissioner) to grant the application of plaintiff \* \* \* for the establishment of a branch bank in the City of South Ogden."

The Findings, Conclusions and Order of the Bank Commissioner denying plaintiff's application, with the Opinion of the Attorney General appended thereto, and the judgment of the lower court are set out in the appendix hereto.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

All defendants have joined in this appeal and join in this common brief. They seek to have the judgment of the lower court reversed, the order granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment set aside, plaintiff's action dismissed, or in the alternative, the case reinstated in the lower court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The basic facts are not in dispute. Essentially they are set out in the Commissioner's "Findings of Fact, Conclusions and Order" (R. 5), and in the opinion of the Attorney General of Utah appended thereto (R. 8). Additionally, the lower court received into evidence the transcript of the testimony in the hearings before the

Commissioner and transcript references herein refer to such transcript. The exhibits in the hearing before the Bank Commissioner were not before the lower court, but certain thereof are included in the record on appeal by stipulation of the parties. When referred to herein they are designated as Applicant's (Plaintiff) or Protestant's (Defendants) exhibits.

Ogden City is a city of the second class, with a population of approximately 75,000. South Ogden City, a city of the third class with a population of approximately 7,500 adjoins Ogden on the south. Thirty-sixth Street, running east and west, is the dividing line between the two municipalities, and Washington Boulevard is the main street running north and south through both South Ogden and Ogden. There is no city of the first class in Weber County.

On March 21, 1968, plaintiff, a state banking corporation with its principal office in Salt Lake City, filed its application with the Bank Commissioner for leave to establish a branch bank in South Ogden at a location on Washington Boulevard near 36th Street. Thus the proposed location was at the extreme northerly edge of South Ogden, and immediately adjacent to the south boundary of Ogden.

At this time Ogden had five unit banks located within its corporate limits, —Bank of Utah, Bank of Ben Lomond, Citizens National Bank, First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., and Commercial Security Bank. In addition, First Security Bank and Commercial Security Bank each had a branch situated in Ogden. South Ogden had no unit banks located within its corporate limits, but Bank

of Utah, First Security Bank and Commercial Security Bank each had and have a branch located therein.

Written protests to the application were filed by the five Ogden banks (all appellants herein), and the application was duly noticed by the Commissioner for public hearing. At the commencement of the hearing, appellants objected to the granting of the application upon the grounds that the primary objective of the proposed branch was not to serve South Ogden, where it was to be located, but rather to serve Ogden, where it was prohibited by law from locating, and that the granting of the application under such circumstances would be contrary to law. Similar objections were interposed by appellants at the conclusion of plaintiff's evidence, and again at the close of all the evidence. The Bank Commissioner took the objections under advisement, stating that he would seek the opinion of the Attorney General upon the legal question involved.

Subsequently the Commissioner found as facts, the following matters here deemed pertinent:

Plaintiff is one of the oldest and largest state chartered banks in Utah. Its main office is in Salt Lake City, and it has twelve branches in Salt Lake County. Additionally, it has branches in Price, Provo and Logan. (Finding 7, App. II).

Plaintiff has capital to the amount required by statute for each present branch, and the additional amount required for the proposed branch. (Finding 9, App. II).

The economic effect of the proposed branch and its sources of business would encompass the Ogden Metropolitan Area, which is comprised of Weber County and

North Davis County, including both incorporated and unincorporated areas therein. The Ogden Metropolitan Area is, for many purposes, a single economic and trade area, with Ogden as its major city. The area has experienced considerable economic growth over the past several years, and growth of the economy is likely to continue. (Finding 16, App. IV).

Unit banks exist in the Ogden Metropolitan Area in the municipalities of Ogden, Clearfield, Layton and Kaysville. Additionally, one or more branch banks are established in each of the municipalities of Ogden, North Ogden, South Ogden, Washington Terrace, Riverdale, Roy, Sunset, Clearfield, Syracuse and Layton (a total of fourteen branch banks), plus banking facilities at Hill Air Force Base and Ogden Defense Depot. The established banks and branches are financially sound and secure, and the establishment of new banks and branches in recent years has not prevented all banks from increasing their loans and resources. (Finding 11, App. II).

The proposed branch would supply the full range of banking services and would offer services to plaintiff's customers in facilitating inter-branch and between city banking transactions. (Finding 12, App. III).

Plaintiff bank has a number of existing customers in the Ogden Metropolitan Area. (Finding 14, App. III).

The financial condition and history of plaintiff and its management demonstrate its capacity to successfully manage and operate the proposed branch. (Finding 15, App. III).

The Ogden Metropolitan Area has a population per banking office of 8,333 persons, compared with 6,247 for the state as a whole. (Conclusion 3, App. IV).

The public convenience and advantage would be subserved and promoted by the establishment of the branch at the location proposed, and the general public would be afforded the choice of another banking facility with substantially larger lending limits than any other state bank in the area. (Conclusion 4, App. V).

The Commissioner further found that it was the contention of protestants that the establishment of the proposed branch would circumvent the branch banking law, because the primary objective of plaintiff in seeking a South Ogden location was not to serve the needs and convenience of South Ogden, but rather to provide a facility that would compete with the banks in Ogden City. (Finding 17, App. IV).

That the Attorney General of Utah in an opinion to the Commissioner dated August 15, 1968, had ruled that as a matter of law a branch bank could not be established by applicant at the location proposed, and that he (the Commissioner) deemed it proper to deny the application upon the basis of the Attorney General's opinion. (Conclusion 5, App. V).

Additionally, there was direct testimony on behalf of plaintiff through its economist, J. Whitney Hanks, that the establishment of the proposed branch in South Ogden would serve the needs and convenience of the Ogden Metropolitan Area and in a broader sense, the needs and convenience of the entire Wasatch front. (Tr. 73, 74, 76, 77, App. Ex. 1, Pg. 65). He further testified, the statutes notwithstanding (Tr. 79), that the public convenience and advantage is better served through branch banks than through unit banks, and that the state generally will benefit more from the establishment

of new branches of already established banks, than from the establishment of new unit banks. (Tr. 80, 84, 85, App. Ex. 1, Pg. 68).

Also, that plaintiff had made no economic study of the needs or convenience of South Ogden, as South Ogden's needs were deemed "irrelevant" (Tr. 89) and that "realistically" plaintiff was looking beyond South Ogden (Tr. 120).

No finding was made by the Commissioner that the needs and convenience of that portion of the public comprising South Ogden would be in any way advantaged by the establishment of the proposed branch within its corporate limits. Indeed the evidence showed, and the Commissioner found, that South Ogden, a city of 7,500 population, was already being served by three branch banks within its limits, and was immediately adjacent to Ogden with its five unit banks and two additional branch banks. (Finding 11, App. II, Applicant's Exhibit 1, Pg. 57).

Following the conclusion of the hearings before the Bank Commissioner and in conformity with his statement that he would seek the advice of the Attorney General upon the legal question raised by the protesting banks, the Commissioner submitted to the Attorney General the following question:

"Should the Commissioner of Utah Financial Institutions find that the public convenience and advantage would not be subverted, may a branch bank be lawfully established within the corporate limits of South Ogden, Utah, a city of the second class in which no unit bank is located, but which is immediately adjacent to Ogden, Utah, another city of the second class in which are presently

located five unit banks, *where it is shown by the evidence that the primary objective of the branch bank is not to serve South Ogden, Utah, in which it is physically to be located, but rather to serve Ogden, Utah?*" (Emphasis added).

The written opinion of the Attorney General (Phil L. Hansen) in response to such question was released under date of August 15, 1968, and on September 9, 1968, the Bank Commissioner issued his decision in writing denying plaintiff's application for the branch. The opinion of the Attorney General was referred to in the decision as the basis for the decision, and was appended to the decision. (App. VI).

Thereafter, plaintiff brought this action in the lower court for a "review" of the decision as provided under Section 7-1-26, U.C.A. 1953. After issue was joined by all parties, plaintiff moved for summary judgment, which motion was granted and summary judgment entered on March 20, 1969, in favor of plaintiff and against defendants. (R. 67). By such judgment (which is set out in full at page IX of the Appendix hereto) the lower court decreed (1) that the decision of the Bank Commissioner was unlawful and was set aside, and (2) that the Bank Commissioner is ordered and directed to grant the application of plaintiff for the South Ogden branch.

## ARGUMENT

1. THE ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OPINION REPRESENTS SOUND LAW, AND THE BANK COMMISSIONER'S DECISION, BEING BASED THEREON, WAS NOT CONTRARY TO LAW.

At the outset, we point out that Section 7-1-26, U.C.A. 1953, which vests the lower court with the power to "review" decisions of the Bank Commissioner, limits the power of the court as follows:

"The reviewing court shall have power to hold unlawful and set aside any act, decision or ruling of the bank commissioner found to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion or otherwise not in accordance with law."

Thus the power of the lower court is limited to *setting aside* a decision of the bank commissioner found to be *not in accordance with law*.

It is unfortunate that the judgment of the lower court with which we are here concerned, while determining that the decision of the Bank Commissioner was "not in accordance with law", does not specify how, or by virtue of what circumstance, such decision was contrary to law. However, since the only contention of the plaintiff in the lower court was that the Bank Commissioner's decision was wrong because it was based upon the Attorney General's opinion, which opinion plaintiff claimed was not legally sound, we assume that the decision of the lower court is based upon this same reasoning. We, accordingly, present as our first point of argument our contention that the Attorney General's opinion represents sound law. To do this we first consider the applicable statutes pertaining to branch banking.

## APPLICABLE STATUTES

Section 7-3-6, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, provides as follows:

"The business of every bank shall be conducted only at its banking house and every bank shall

receive deposits and pay checks only at its banking house except as hereinafter provided.

“With the consent of the bank commissioner any bank having a paid-in capital and surplus of not less than \$60,000 may establish and operate one branch for the transaction of its business; provided, that for each additional branch established there shall be paid in an additional \$60,000 (capital and surplus).

*“All banking houses and branches shall be located either within the corporate limits of a city or town, or within unincorporated areas of a county in which a city of the first class is located.*

*“Except in cities of the first class, or within unincorporated areas of a county in which a city of the first class is located, no branch bank shall be established in any city or town in which is located a bank or banks, state or national, regularly transacting a customary banking business, unless the bank seeking to establish such branch shall take over an existing bank. No unit bank organized and operating at a point where there are other operating banks, state or national, shall be permitted to be acquired by another bank for the purpose of establishing a branch until such bank shall have been in operation as such for a period of five years.*

“The term ‘branch’ as used in this act shall be held to include any branch bank, branch office, branch agency, additional office, or any branch place of business at which deposits are received or checks paid or money lent.

“Any bank desiring to establish one or more branches or offices shall file a written application therefor in such form and containing such information as the bank commissioner may reasonably require. *No bank shall be permitted to establish*

*any branch or office until it shall first have been shown to the satisfaction of the bank commissioner that the public convenience and advantage will be subserved and promoted by the establishment of such branch or office.* The bank commissioner may, at his discretion, hold a public hearing on any application to establish a branch. He shall give notice of such hearing by publication in three successive issues in a newspaper of general circulation in the County in which the branch is to be established. The decision of the bank commissioner granting or denying an application to establish a branch shall be in writing, stating the reasons therefore, and shall be mailed to the applicant and all protestants. The bank commissioner may by order permitting the establishment of such branch or office designate and limit the character of work and service which may therein be performed.

“No branch shall be established at a location outside the corporate limits of a city or town in such close proximity to an established bank or branch as to unreasonably interfere with the business thereof.

“Any corporation or officer thereof violating any of the provisions of this section is guilty of a misdemeanor.” (Italics reflect the provisions which we deem particularly applicable to the question at hand.)

Section 7-3-6.3, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, provides as follows:

“From and after the effective date of this act no unit bank and no branch bank shall be established or authorized to conduct a banking business except as hereinbefore in Section 7-3-6 expressly provided.”

## LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

In the case of *Walker Bank & Trust Company vs. Taylor*, 15 Utah (2) 234, 390 P. (2) 592, this court made the following observation with respect to the prohibitive effect of the foregoing statutes, and their legislative history:

“We are of the opinion that our statute is restrictive and, what it does not expressly permit, it prohibits. There is but one method of establishing a branch bank in a city of less than the first class having an existing unit bank and that is by ‘taking over’ such bank. The legislative history of branch banking is of great significance. In 1911, the legislature enacted a statute which absolutely prohibited branch banking. It was not until 1933 that the legislature relaxed this prohibition and permitted branching under certain conditions and circumstances. *During the period between 1911 and 1933 the legislature evidently was of the opinion that branch banking was not in the public interest, possibly because it might impair the stability of the existing banks. This reasoning could well have influenced the law makers when they saw fit to allow branch banking, but only under certain restrictive conditions.* The legislative history lends support to the proposition that what our branch banking laws do not permit they prohibit.” (Italics added.)

## EFFECT AND OBJECTIVE OF STATUTES

By the foregoing statutes the legislature has affirmatively declared that only certain specified geographical areas are open to the establishment of branch banks, other than by the so-called “take over” method with which we are not here concerned. With the exception of Salt Lake County and Salt Lake City, as to which the legislature

has established different rules not applicable here, the geographical areas not automatically closed to branching are municipalities in which there are no unit banks. Or to state it in the negative, all unincorporated areas of the counties, and all municipalities in which are presently located a unit bank or banks, are closed to the establishment of branch banks. The Legislature has further affirmatively declared it to be the policy of Utah that as the public comprising the closed municipalities require additional bank facilities, such additional needs are to be provided through the establishment of new unit banks, and *not* by means of branching. Thus the legislative policy of Utah, as reflected in the foregoing statutory restrictions on branch banking, is one of encouraging the unit banking system and discouraging branch banking. This policy, as pointed out by the Attorney General in his opinion, serves a dual purpose, in that it is designed to protect existing unit banks from the competition of out-of-city banks through the branching process, and to promote the furnishing of additional banking competition through the establishment of local unit banks. The reasoning behind such policy is as suggested by this Court in *Walker Bank & Trust Co. vs. Taylor*, *supra*, namely, that unlimited branch banking

“was not in the public interest, possibly because it might impair the stability of the existing banks.”

#### PLAINTIFF WALKER BANK'S APPLICATION

Ogden City, a city of the second class, has five unit banks established and located within its corporate limits. Thus Ogden City is closed to *de novo* branching. Plaintiff sought permission to establish a branch in South Ogden, a city of the third class which adjoins Ogden on

the south, and which presently has three branch banks located and established within its corporate limits, but no unit bank or banks. Thus South Ogden is not closed to the establishment of the proposed branch *if it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Bank Commissioner that the needs and convenience of South Ogden require additional banking facilities.* However, that is not this case, and it does not involve the question upon which the Attorney General's opinion was based, as plaintiff's evidence by plaintiff's own admission was not directed toward the needs and convenience of South Ogden.

Thus, the legal question involved became one of whether the law permitted Walker Bank to establish a branch in South Ogden, based not upon the needs and requirements of South Ogden, or with the primary objective of serving South Ogden, but rather upon the basis of a claimed need for additional banking services in Ogden and other closed areas in Weber and North Davis County, *and with the primary objective of serving and fulfilling those asserted needs.*

This was the legal question submitted by the Commissioner to the Attorney General, and in response to which the Attorney General ruled that Utah law does not permit the establishment of the proposed branch *under such circumstances.*

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