1969

**Walker Bank & Trust Company v. W. S. Brimhall, Commissioner of
Financial Institutions of Utah, Bank of Utah, Bank of Ben Lomond,
Citizens National Bank, First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., and
Commercial Security Bank : Brief of Respondent**

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE COMMISSIONER WAS NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW.

We propose to answer here both Point I and Point II of Appellants' Brief.

The sole question involved in the court below and, we contend, the sole question involved here is the legal sufficiency of the Attorney General's second opinion to the Bank Commissioner dated August 15, 1968. We alleged in paragraph 7 of our complaint that the Commissioner denied Respondent's branch application "solely on the ruling of law set forth in the opinion of the Attor-

ney General'' (R. 3). This allegation was admitted by the Commissioner (R. 14) which, of course, in good conscience he had to admit by the very terms of his written conclusions in the case (Conclusion, Paragraph 5, R. 7). We contended below and contend here that the Attorney General's opinion and the Commissioner's decision were erroneous as a matter of law and the court below so determined.

An examination of the branch banking statutes upon which this case depends and which are fully quoted in Appellants' brief indicates that there are three prerequisites to the establishment of a branch by any bank. First, the bank must have sufficient capital and surplus and no one here questions the sufficiency of the capital and surplus of Respondent for this purpose. Second, the proposed branch must be located within the corporate limits of a city or town in which city or town no other bank is located. There is, likewise, no question but that the proposed location of the Walker Bank branch is within South Ogden, Utah, and while there are three branch banks operating in that city, there are no unit banks in the city. In *Walker Bank & Trust Company v. Taylor*, 15 U.2d 234, 390 Pac.2d 592, this court determined that the branch banking laws do not prohibit the establishment of a branch bank in a city in which only branches of other banks are located.

The only other requirement is that the applicant show "to the satisfaction of the bank commissioner that the public convenience and advantage will be subserved and promoted by the establishment of such branch or

office.” Here there can be no proper contention that the Commissioner was not so satisfied in view of his Conclusion No. 4 and his admission of paragraph 6 of our complaint that “the public convenience and advantage would be subserved and promoted by the establishment of such branch at the location proposed.” (R. 7, 2, 14)

The Attorney General initially recognized these as the three requirements for the establishment of a branch bank for in his opinion of July 26, 1968 he advised the Commissioner that he would have grounds for determining that the granting of the Walker Bank application would not subserve and promote the public convenience and advantage. In doing so, he assumed and stated that the “specific statutory prohibition [as to location] does not foreclose the anticipated branch bank” and further, that the applicant must “show that the public convenience and advantage will be subserved by the new facility.” The applicant here met that burden and the Commissioner specifically found that it had met the burden. The Commissioner was unwilling to conclude that because the branch facility would be located near the South Ogden City boundary or that because applicant showed that it would draw customers from areas outside of South Ogden that thereby the public convenience and advantage would not be subserved and promoted. When the Commissioner refused to take the “hint,” Mr. Hansen forced his hand by holding in his second opinion of August 15, 1968 that he must deny the Walker Bank application as a matter of law. In doing so he read into the branch banking statutes a requirement that simply

does not exist, a requirement that would limit the service area of a branch bank to the city limits of the city in which the branch facility is located.

At this point we call the court's attention to the New Jersey case *In re Application of Howard Savings Institution*, 159 A.2d 113 (N.J. 1960). In this case the Supreme Court of New Jersey upheld the determination of the New Jersey Commissioner of Banking and Insurance approving the application of a savings bank to establish a branch in the incorporated area of North Caldwell. The opinion describes the geographical and economic situation of the area indicating a typical situation of urban sprawl affecting seven city areas. (This is analogous to the situation here where North Ogden, Ogden, South Ogden, Riverdale, Roy and other North Davis County communities tend to run together and constitute a single metropolitan area.) A large increase in population had occurred. The cities were essentially residential communities and the retail center for the area was the major city of Caldwell with only a few retail businesses in the other cities. There were no banks or branches located in North Caldwell but there were banks in Caldwell. The Caldwell City boundary was about 400 feet west of the branch site in North Caldwell. Immediately across the street from the branch site was the city of Essex Fells, which had no banks or branches, and about 700 feet east of the branch site was the city limits of Verona in which city was located another bank.

The New Jersey statute permitted branch banks to be established in a municipality in the same county in which the applicant bank had its principal office "in

which no banking institution has its principal office or a branch office.” The Commissioner of Banking was required to determine “that the interests of the public will be served to advantage by the establishment of such branch office.” The Commissioner was also required to determine that the conditions in the “locality in which the proposed branch office is to be established” indicate that the branch could operate successfully (Utah has no such requirement).

It was contended that in determining whether the branch office could be successfully operated, the Commissioner and the applicant were limited to evidence of business to be derived from the particular municipality in which the branch was to be located. The court held that instead the proper criteria was the area to be served by the branch even though this extended beyond municipal boundaries. The branch must be established within the boundaries of a municipality but the Commissioner **must** consider the economic effect of the proposed branch to determine whether the criteria of public interest and successful operation are met. The court stated that plainly the criteria of public interest was to be considered on a service area basis.

It is indeed most appropriate that the vital questions of public interest and probable success be viewed without regard to mere artificial lines. Banking, like any business and most human activity these days, is not and should not be confined by political boundaries. Cf. *Duffcon Concrete Products v. Borough of Cresskill*, 1 N.Y. 509, 513, 64 A.2d 347, 9 A.L.R.2d 678 (1949). Realism is the sounder basis of any substantive test. In banking that is best indicated by conditions in and

of the whole area which the proposed institution or branch would normally expect to draw upon and serve. Again we cannot quarrel with the basis prescribed by the Legislature, either alone or in conjunction with the initial municipal requisite. (159 A.2d at 123)

Mr. Hansen concluded in his second opinion and Appellants argue in their brief that the branch banking statutes are designed to protect banks from competition of out of city banks. This argument is based solely on the admitted fact that branches cannot be established in unincorporated areas of counties (other than Salt Lake County) or in incorporated areas (other than Salt Lake City) in which any unit bank is located whereas unit banks can be located in such areas. The conclusion is a complete non sequitur. Banking is a regulated industry, but it is regulated for the public interest, not for the interest of existing banks. Excessive competition is an element to be considered in determining whether the establishment of a new branch would be in the public interest, but this determination is made from the point of view of the public rather than the banks which are affected by the competition. The question is whether the new facility is needed by the public and, if established, whether the competition would jeopardize the safety of existing institutions to the detriment of the public. These considerations are present for a new unit bank as well as for a new branch bank. The Commissioner here found and concluded that existing banks in the Ogden metropolitan area (and this includes all of the protestant banks) are financially stable and secure institutions, that increased competition from the proposed

Walker Bank branch would not unreasonably interfere with the operation of these existing banks and branches and that such competition "would not jeopardize the depositors of such banks, would not interfere with the ability of these banks to maintain their financial strength and would not impair their ability to compete with the applicant bank and other banks."

Furthermore, if avoiding bank competition is a legislative policy, it is enunciated most strongly in the statutes pertaining to the establishment of unit banks. A unit bank can be established only if the Commissioner determines, among other things, that:

"the location or field of operation of the proposed business . . . [is not] in such proximity to an established . . . [financial institution] that such established business might be unreasonably interfered with. . . ." (Section 7-1-26(1), Utah Code Annotated 1953).

Note that under this section consideration must be given to the effect on all existing financial institutions, both existing unit banks and existing branch banks, consideration must be given to proximity, in the sense of distance at least, without regard to boundaries of cities or towns, and finally consideration must be given to not only the location of the new unit bank, but also to its field of operation or service area. None of these requirements are in the branch banking statute except for branches in Salt Lake County where a branch may not be established "in such close proximity to an established bank or branch as to unreasonably interfere with the business thereof." (7-3-6) The omission of these specific require-

ments makes it much more logical to find a legislative policy indifferent to competitive effects on existing banks in connection with branch bank applications outside of Salt Lake County.

The better answer to the whole question is stated by the New Jersey Supreme Court in the *Howard Savings* case as follows :

Evident from the statutes is a fundamental distinction between the basic physical requisites for a new bank or savings and loan association and for a branch office. The former can be established in a political subdivision where another similar institution already exists; a branch cannot be, although it may be permitted in the next municipality and thereby compete. *We see no reason why the Legislature cannot so differentiate if it chooses to do so or why it may not use the economically artificial municipal boundary as the preliminary measuring rod.* There is the advantage of initial certainty. Moreover, a new bank is an expensive undertaking and is generally proposed or organized by local people in response to some local need for additional banking facilities, fairly broadly felt and with sufficient depth to warrant the capital risk. The statutory scheme quite properly gives preference here to local interests organizing the new facility as against an out-of-town institution seeking to seize the opportunity to establish a branch and thereby compete in close quarters with a bank already in existence. By the same token, where there is legitimate room in an area for further banking facilities, it is entirely reasonable to say that establishment of a competing outside branch should not be permitted right next door, so to speak, to the established institution, *but that competition may be*

allowed, if in the public interest, from a location across the municipal boundary. Also, some municipalities in need of banking facilities may not have sufficient local capital or potential to justify creation of a new institution but their need and convenience may be adequately met by the maintenance of a less expensive branch. Stokes, *supra*, 74 Banking Law Journal at p. 927. It is well known that branch banking is a controversial subject, substantially not permitted in New Jersey outside the municipality of the principal office until 1948, and it seems apparent that the Legislature, in prescribing the physical scheme it has adopted a compromise between competing interests in the banking field, which was entirely within its power to do. (159 A.2d at 122; emphasis added)

This we contend is the same type of policy adopted by our legislature — a resolution or compromise between competing banking philosophies done on the basis of geographical prohibitions and in reliance on the ability of the Commissioner to determine the public convenience and advantage.

The Attorney General and Appellants both argue at great length that Walker Bank is by a subterfuge trying to establish a branch where it cannot legally establish a branch. We take it that neither Appellants nor the former Attorney General mean by the word “subterfuge” that Walker Bank is attempting by some trick or device to conceal the true facts of this case or obtain an under the table advantage. Respondent has at all times been frank and open in its presentation of its application. We have always pointed out that we believed that the proposed branch would serve an area not only of South Ogden

but of other parts of the Ogden metropolitan area including Ogden City itself, other parts of Weber County and parts of North Davis County. Respondent is not attempting to avoid anything but rather to comply with the branch banking statutes and present our application on a realistic basis. We again call the court's attention to the statement in the *Howard Savings* case quoted above (supra, p. 8) that banking is not and should not be confined by political boundaries. Under our law the branch must be established within the boundaries of a municipality in which a unit bank is not located, but there is nothing in our statutes that limits the service area of the proposed branch to the municipality in which it was located. The Commissioner cannot realistically assess the public convenience and advantage element of the statute unless he is presented with evidence of what the service area of the proposed branch is likely to be. Here Walker Bank showed that the proposed branch would serve South Ogden and would also serve Ogden and other areas in Weber County and North Davis County in the Ogden metropolitan area. Taking this into account, the Commissioner found that the public convenience and advantage would be subserved and promoted. Nothing further was required.

We agree with Appellants that courts have been quick to strike down evasions of branch banking laws. If Walker Bank was here trying to move its main office at Second South and Main Street in Salt Lake City or another branch of Walker Bank to South Ogden, Utah, we are sure this court would look very closely at the situation and likely follow the decisions of *Marion National*

Bank v. Camp (Dist. Ct., N.D. Ind. 1968) ; *Bank of Dearborn v. Saxon*, 244 Fed. Supp 394, 377 Fed.2d 496 and *In re Princeton Bank & Trust Company* (N.J.) 208 A.2d 820. The court might similarly be concerned if Walker Bank had not applied for a branch in South Ogden, but instead set up a night depository and an armored car pickup and delivery service to serve South Ogden and other parts of the Ogden metropolitan area similar to the bank involved in *Dickinson v. First National Bank in Plant City*, 400 Fed.2d 548. We know we would be in trouble if after opening the South Ogden Branch we relocated it in Ogden City, which was the effect of the decision in *American Bank & Trust Company v. Saxon*, 373 Fed.2d 283. No such "subterfuge" is involved here. Our object is and has been to serve the public and our own best interests by locating a branch bank within the city limits of South Ogden to serve South Ogden and other parts of the Ogden metropolitan area (and, for that matter, anyone else wherever located who chooses to do business with us at the South Ogden branch).

Appellants, of course, cannot contend that the branch banking laws prohibit a branch from accepting business from any other place than the municipality in which the branch facility is located. If this is so, the practical result would be to make illegal all or at least most of the existing branches of all banks in the state, including the South Ogden branches of the Appellant banks. All of these banks have admitted that they accept business at these branches from outside of South Ogden (see Requests for Admissions (R. 22-27) and the various answers to such requests (R. 50-56) — Commercial Security Bank

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